
City Commission Meeting Agenda October 15, 2018 Page 1 
 

CITY OF POLSON COMMISSION 
 MEETING AGENDA 

 
COMMISSION CHAMBERS                                   OCTOBER 15, 2018                                                7:00 P.M. 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 Mayor Paul Briney 
 
2.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 Mayor Paul Briney 
 
3. APPROVAL OF PROPOSED AGENDA 
 Mayor Paul Briney 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT ON SIGNIFICANT MATTERS TO THE PUBLIC NOT ON THE AGENDA (address items to the Chair.  
Commission takes no action on items discussed) 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 
 a.  October 1 – 11, 2018 claims 
               b. City Commission Electronic Meeting Minutes October 1, 2018 

c.  City Commission Written Summary Meeting Minutes October 1, 2018 
d.  Transfer of All-Alcoholic Beverage License with Catering Endorsement License No. 15-860-3791-002 from 

   Laga Sorriso LLC to Flathead Lake Food & Beverage, LLC Member Scott E Biggs 
  e.  Appoint Linda Greenwood to the Parks and Tree Board 
 

6.  PROCLAMATION – RICK SKATES 
 Mayor Paul Briney 
 
7. PROCLAMATION – ROBERT SLOAN 
 Mayor Paul Briney  
 

8. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
 City Manager Mark Shrives 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

9. PUBLIC HEARING-BUDGET AMENDMENTS FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 
 City Finance Officer Cindy Dooley 
 
10.  RESOLUTION TO APPROPRIATE MONEY AND PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT OF DEBTS AND EXPENSES FOR THE CITY 
OF POLSON IN FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 AS ALLOWED BY MCA 7-6-4006 
 City Finance Officer Cindy Dooley                                                                                          *Vote Required* 
 
11.  RIDGEWATER TIME EXTENSION REQUEST 
 City Planner Kyle Roberts                                                                                                        *Vote Required* 
 
12.  RESOLUTION TO REQUEST DISTRIBUTION OF 2018 BRIDGE AND ROAD SAFETY AND ACCOUNTABILITY PROGRAM 
FUNDS (BaRSAA) 
 City Finance Officer Cindy Dooley                                                                                          *Vote Required* 
 
 

Agenda Packet Page No. 1

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text
pg. 3

Cindy
Typewritten Text
pg. 23

Cindy
Typewritten Text
pg. 24

Cindy
Typewritten Text
pg. 25

Cindy
Typewritten Text
pg. 25

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text
pg. 28

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text
 pg. 51

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text

Cindy
Typewritten Text



City Commission Meeting Agenda October 15, 2018 Page 2 
 

13.  WASTEWATER RESOURCE RECOVERY FACILITY UPDATE/DISCUSSION/DECISION 
 City Manager Mark shrives                                                                                                      *Vote Required* 
 
14. ADJOURN 
 
The City of Polson encourages public participation in its public meetings and hearings.  In doing so the City holds its meetings in handicapped 
accessible facilities.  Any persons desiring accommodations for a handicapping condition should call the City Clerk at 883-8203 for more 
information  

Agenda Packet Page No. 2



Agenda Packet Page No. 3



Agenda Packet Page No. 4



Agenda Packet Page No. 5



Agenda Packet Page No. 6



Agenda Packet Page No. 7



Agenda Packet Page No. 8



Agenda Packet Page No. 9



*DRAFT* City Commission Meeting Minutes October 1, 2018                                              1 
          

 CITY OF POLSON                            

COMMISSION MEETING 

                                                           5c.                                                                     
Commission Chambers                   October 1, 2018                         7:00 p.m. 

 

ATTENDANCE: Mayor Briney, Commissioners Donovan, Howlett, Martin, Moll,                                       

City Manager Mark Shrives and City Clerk Cora Pritt  

 

ABSENT: Commissioners Marchello and Turner 

 

OTHERS PRESENT (who voluntarily signed in): Elsa Duford, Lita Fonda, Bonnie Manicke,                        

Lee Manicke, and Rob Zolman 

 

CALL TO ORDER: (00:01) Mayor Briney called the meeting to order. The Pledge of Allegiance was 

recited.  Roll call was taken.   

APPROVAL OF PROPOSED AGENDA (00:43) – Commissioner Martin motion to approve the 

proposed agenda.  Commissioner Donovan second.  Commission discussion: none Public comment:  

none VOTE: Unanimous Motion carried 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON SIGNIFICANT MATTERS TO THE PUBLIC NOT ON THE AGENDA 

(01:13) –None 

CONSENT AGENDA (01:27) - a. Additional June, 2018 claims, b. September 14-27, 2018 claims,                           

c. City Commission Electronic Meeting Minutes September 17, 2018, d. City Commission Written 

Summary Meeting Minutes September 17, 2018.   Commissioner Howlett motion to approve the 

Consent Agenda.  Commissioner Moll second.   Commission discussion:  Commissioner Moll asked 

about the new snow plow.  City Manager Shrives answered that the Streets Department is selling one of 

their older dump trucks to the Golf Maintenance Department.  The Golf Maintenance Department will be 

selling one of their old dump trucks.  The new dump truck is a used truck from Seattle Washington.  

Commissioner Martin asked about the grant writer that the Fire Department had hired.  City Manager 

Shrives explained that the City was partnering with Polson Rural Fire Department in hiring this grant 

writer that the Rural Fire Department had found.  The grant will be for the purchase of SCBA equipment.  

Public comment: none  VOTE:  Unanimous Motion carried.   

 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS (04:37)-City Manager Shrives commented that he had received a 

complimentary note from S. Conrad on the way that Cameron Milton and Roger Wallace professionally 

handle the running of the golf course.  Code Compliance update:  44 complaints in September.  38 have 

been dealt with.  The City is dealing with issues on a complaint basis.   

 

CITY POSITION REGARDING PROPOSED COUNTY TEXT AMENDMENTS TO 1993 

POLSON DEVELOPMENT CODE (06:16) – City Planner Kyle Roberts presented this agenda item.   

Last month at the City County Planning Board meeting, Lake County presented the proposed 

amendments to the 1993 Polson Development Code.  These amendments were at the request of an 

applicant.  Within the City limits the 2016 Polson Development Code is the guide for development.  The 

County is still using the 1993 Polson Development Code for outside the City limits.  The proposed 

amendment would permit accessory dwelling units in the front yard of a property.  In the event that a 

property would annex into the City this would become an issue.  This is also in direct violation of 

Montana Code Annotated 76-2-203.  City Staff is recommending sending a letter to the County 

Commissioners outlining the situation and the violation.  What the applicant had proposed would be 

acceptable.  The Lake County Planning Department modified the request.  Commissioner Howlett 

Agenda Packet Page No. 10



*DRAFT* City Commission Meeting Minutes October 1, 2018                                              2 
          

motion to approve sending Lake County Board of Commissioners a letter detailing the City’s 

official position regarding Lake County’s proposed text amendment to the 1993 Polson 

Development Code.  Commissioner Moll second.  Commission discussion:  Commissioner Moll asked 

about the communication between the City and the County Commission.  City Manager Shrives replied 

that he and Mayor Briney have met with the County Commission regarding the letter that is to be put 

together on the drug houses.  There will be a meeting with the Ronan Police Chief, Tribal Police Chief, 

and Polson Police Chief before the letter is written.  Commissioner Martin stated that there is already 

visibility with regards to this matter.  Public Comment:  Lita Fonda, Ward 1- commented one of the 

reasons for the text amendment by Lake County Planning Department was to bring that area into 

agreement with the other County Planning zones.  Elsa Duford, Ward II – asked if the text is allowed to 

be amended, how the City will handle the issue when property is annexed.  Will the structure have to be 

removed?  City Planner Roberts answered that the City would have the authority to remove the structure 

but doubtful that would occur.  Lita Fonda, Ward I – asked if manufactured home are permitted in Low 

Residential Zoning District within the City limits.  City Planner Roberts answered yes.  VOTE: 

Unanimous Motion carried 

 

CITY OF POLSON GROWTH POLICY UPDATE (20:15) – City Planner Kyle Roberts presented 

this agenda item.  This is an annual update of the Growth Policy per the 2016 Growth Policy.  There is a 

time line to review and update.  The Growth Policy is to be reviewed and updated every 10 years.  There 

was an error on page 111.  The incorrect statement has been corrected. Mayor Briney commended City 

Planner Roberts on catching the mistake and correcting it.  City Planner Roberts added that this had also 

been presented to the City County Planning Board at the previous meeting and there were no revisions.   

 

RIDGEWATER MASTERPLAN UPDATE/DISCUSSION (26:52) – City Planner Kyle Roberts 

presented this agenda item.   Over the past year City Planner Kyle Roberts and City Manager Mark 

Shrives have conducted several meetings with the developers, Michael Maddy and Dennis Duty on 

reviewing and updating the 72 Conditions of Approval along with other issues.  City Planner Roberts 

commented that the City would like to have a Land Use Attorney review the final Conditions of 

Approval.  The current Time Extension is set to expire October 16, 2018.  The City could grant a short 

extension to allow legal review.  City Manager Shrives commented that the decision does not need to be 

made tonight.  Commissioner Martin asked why have someone else review the Conditions?  City 

Manager Shrives answered just to make sure the Conditions are compatible with the law.  Developer 

Michael Maddy commented that they are not interested in any legal review.  The corrections were simple 

and don’t require legal review.  Developer Dennis Duty commented that this is all very frustrating.  A 

whole year was spent on updating the Conditions of Approval.  The updated Conditions of Approval were 

agreed upon.  Mayor Briney commented that he does not want to see this become another legal battle.  

Commissioner Moll asked if a different attorney could review the documents since the Developers do not 

want the previous Land Use Attorney to review the documents.  Commissioner Martin put a time limit of 

one week review.  Commissioner Howlett agreed that the Conditions should be looked at.  Developer 

Dennis Duty commented that he’s not opposed to the review just the time limits.  City Manager Shrives 

explained he’s not looking for a fight, just wants a legal perspective.  Developer Duty commented that the 

updated Conditions of Approval are within City Code.  Mayor Briney commented that he would like to 

have legal review of the updated Conditions just to keep the City safe. Developer Michael Maddy 

commented that the City should have their own attorney, Richard Gebhardt, review the updated 

Conditions.  This is really simple.  City Manager Shrives commented that the City would stay on track 

with this.  Commissioner Martin commented that if there are any issues that Mr. Maddy and Mr. Duty 

need to be kept informed.   

 

Mayor Briney inquired of the Commission if action minutes were agreeable.  The Commission agreed.  

Adjourn (47:50) - Commissioner Donovan motion to adjourn.  Commissioner Howlett second.    

VOTE:  Unanimous Motion carried.   

 

Agenda Packet Page No. 11



*DRAFT* City Commission Meeting Minutes October 1, 2018                                              3 
          

ADJOURN: 7:48 p.m. 

________________________________              ATTEST: __________________________________ 

     Mayor Paul Briney                                                                    Cora E. Pritt, City Clerk 

Agenda Packet Page No. 12



Agenda Packet Page No. 13



Agenda Packet Page No. 14



Agenda Packet Page No. 15



Agenda Packet Page No. 16



Agenda Packet Page No. 17



Agenda Packet Page No. 18



Agenda Packet Page No. 19



Agenda Packet Page No. 20



Agenda Packet Page No. 21



Agenda Packet Page No. 22



                                                                                                             6 

 

PROCLAMATION HONORING RICK SKATES FOR HIS YEARS OF 

SERVICE TO THE CITY OF POLSON 

 
WHEREAS, Rick Skates began his banking career in July of 1976 when he joined First 

Citizens Bank as Assistant Vice President after graduating from Montana State 

University and the Pacific Coast Bank School and  

  

WHEREAS, In January 2001 Rick Skates began serving as President First Citizens Bank 

and  

 

WHEREAS, Rick Skates has served the community of Polson as President of Jaycees 

where he received several State awards, President of the Chamber of Commerce twice, 

Exalted Ruler of the Elks Club, President of Rotary, a Wild Horse Island commission 

member, City Golf Board member, Flathead Lake Board member, served on the School 

Board of Trustees, Paul Harris Fellow of Rotary International, previous winner of the 

Chamber of Commerce Citizen of the Year and a member of The Montana Shamrockers, 

performing all throughout the NorthWest and Ireland.  The Shamrockers were named 

Montana’s official good-will ambassadors to Ireland and 

 

WHEREAS, Rick Skates wan an originator of the Lake County Trade Fair which is still 

in place today.  He also originated and planned the Memorial Day Celebration in 2007 

with twelve retired Generals from Montana where the bridge was re-named “Armed 

Forces Memorial Bridge and   

 

WHEREAS, Rick Skates is an avid fisherman and regularly donates trophy lake trout 

fishing trips to charities and fundraisers and 

 

WHEREAS, Rick Skates and his wife Kathy were married for 45 years prior to her 

passing in March 2017 and raised their daughter Natalie.  Natalie enriched their lives 

with a granddaughter Teagan and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that I Paul Briney, Mayor of the City of 

Polson and the Commission of the City of Polson hereby thank Rick Skates for all his 

years of service and extend our best wishes upon his retirement. 

  
__________________________________ 

Mayor Paul Briney 

City of Polson  

 

Agenda Packet Page No. 23



                                                                                                         7 

 

PROCLAMATION HONORING ROBERT SLOAN FOR HIS YEARS 

OF SERVICE TO THE CITY OF POLSON COMMUNITY 

 

 
WHEREAS, Robert Sloan began his banking career in August of 1974 when he joined 

First Citizen Bank as a “trainee” doing teller duties after graduating from the University 

of Montana.  He later graduated from the Pacific Coast Banking School and 

  

WHEREAS, Robert Sloan has served as Executive Vice President of the First Citizen 

Bank; and  

 

WHEREAS, Robert Sloan has actively been involved in Kiwanis, the Polson Chamber 

of Commerce, Boy Scouts, Little League, softball and a member of the Polson Church of 

Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints and The Montana Shamrockers, performing all 

throughout the NorthWest and Ireland.  The Shamrockers were named Montana’s official 

good-will ambassadors to Ireland and 

 

WHEREAS, Robert Sloan has served the City of Polson by participating on the City 

/County Planning Board, City Police Commission, City Board of Adjustments, City Park 

Board; and  

 

WHEREAS,  

Robert Sloan and his wife Judy have been married for 46 years and raised seven children 

in the Polson School District and 

 

WHEREAS,  

Robert Sloan was an integral part of First Citizen Banks for the past 40 years, providing 

opportunities and service to the community  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that I Paul Briney, Mayor of the City of 

Polson and the Commission of the City of Polson hereby thank Robert Sloan for all his 

years of service and wish to extend our best wishes on his retirement. 

  
__________________________________ 

Mayor Paul Briney 

City of Polson  

Agenda Packet Page No. 24



 

CITY OF POLSON 
CITY COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
Agenda Item Number:       
Meeting Date: October 15, 2018      
Staff Contact:  Cindy Dooley, Finance Officer         
 
AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY:  Approval of Resolution No. 2018-#___ to appropriate money 
and provide for the payment of debts and expenses for the City of Polson in fiscal year 2017-
2018. 
 
BACKGROUND:   The final budget, even though it is displayed on a line item basis, is 
approved at the fund level.  Per MCA 7-6-4006, the City is allowed to amend the final approved 
budget for any funds where the expenditures exceed the approved appropriations.  This usually 
occurs when the City receives unanticipated revenues and then spends those revenues or 
unexpected expenditures are incurred that require the use of fund balance reserves (prior year net 
revenues).  A budget amendment requires a public hearing to be held during the regular City 
Commission business meeting.  At the public hearing any taxpayer or resident may be heard for 
or against any part of the proposed budget amendments. 
 
ANALYSIS:    For fiscal year 2017-2018 there are a total of 7 funds that require a budget 
amendment.  Exhibit A to the Resolution details the appropriation amount that is needed and the 
source of the appropriation and the amount available to fund the appropriation.   
    
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The total increase in appropriations is $18,831.00.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve the Budget Amendments Resolution to be in 
compliance with budgetary laws. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:  I move to approve Resolution No. 2018-#TBD to appropriate 
money and provide for the payment of debts and expenses for the City of Polson in fiscal year 
2017-2018 as detailed on Exhibit A of the resolution. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution No. 2018-#____ 
             Exhibit A 

       

Agenda Packet Page No. 25

Cora
Typewritten Text

Cora
Typewritten Text

Cora
Typewritten Text

Cora
Typewritten Text
10

Cindy
Text Box
9 & 10



Resolution 2018-#____ FY17-18 Budget Amendment  1 

CITY OF POLSON 
RESOLUTION NO. 2018-#____ 

 
RESOLUTION TO APPROPRIATE MONEY AND PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT OF DEBTS AND 
EXPENSES FOR THE CITY OF POLSON IN FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 AS ALLOWED BY MCA 7-6-
4006. 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to MCA section 7-6-4006 the City Commission of the City of Polson, Montana, may 
appropriate money and provide for payment of debts and expenses of the local government; and  
 
WHEREAS, appropriations may be adjusted by passage of a resolution stating the adjustment, which is 
the procedure authorized by the governing body for debt service funds for obligations related to debt 
approved by the governing body, trust funds for obligations authorized by trust covenants, any fund for 
federal, state, local, or private grants and shared revenue accepted and approved by the governing body; 
any fund for special assessments approved by the governing body; the proceeds from the sale of land, 
any fund for gifts or donations, and money borrowed during the fiscal year; and 
 
WHEREAS, the governing body may amend the budget for the fiscal year and conducted a public hearing 
on October 15, 2018 stating its intention to amend the FY2018 budget and provide for additional 
appropriations and identified reserves, unanticipated revenue or previously unbudgeted revenue that will 
fund the appropriations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the annual appropriations and transfers out for various departments of the City of Polson, 
Montana for the Fiscal Year 2017-2018 will be controlled and monitored for budgetary compliance at the 
fund level; and 
 
WHEREAS, the following adjustments to increase expenditure fund budgets are proposed and deemed 
necessary: 
 

See attached Exhibit A for detail regarding each budget amendment. 
 
NOW BE IT RESOLVED by the Polson City Commission that unanticipated revenues, unbudgeted 
revenues and fund balance reserve amounts will be used to cover the following expenditures: 
 

Appropriation Amount  Fund Account Object 
$   2,907.00 Added to 2223 460430 299 
$      206.00 Added to 2391 420140 299 
$      254.00 Added to 2401 430263 341 
$   2,014.00 Added to 2703 420400 299 
$   6,649.00 Added to 2730 420140 900 
$   4,347.00 Added to 2820 430240 281 
$   2,454.00 Added to 3542 490300 610 

 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 15th day of October, 2018.    
                                            

_____________________________ 
                                           Paul Briney, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:_____________________________ 
           Cora E Pritt, City Clerk              

Agenda Packet Page No. 26



Fund and Line Item Description

 Budget 

Amendment 

Appropriation Source of Appropriation

 Revenue or Fund 

Balance Reserve 

Amount Justification

2223-460430-299

Parks-Pickle Ball Courts 

Donations-Assets less 

than $5000 2,907.00$         

Donation Revenue - Donations-

Pickle Ball Project:                                                                    

2223-365035  $              4,350.00 

Unanticipated donations 

were received for the Pickle 

Ball Court project so 

additional expenditures 

were incurred.

2391-420140-299

DUI Court Fee Fund-

Crime Control and 

Investigation-Assets less 

than $5000 206.00$            

Court Fines and Forfeitures 

Revenue:                                                   

2391-351000  $                 800.00 

New fund created for DUI 

Court Fees.  Expenditures 

incurred based on revenue 

received.

2401-430263-341

Light Maintenance 

District #19-Street 

Lighting-Electric 254.00$            

Fund Balance Reserves:                      

2401-260100  $              3,645.40 

Electric costs for Light 

Maintenance District #19 

exceeded the budget 

appropriation and fund 

balance reserves are 

available.

2703-420400-299

Fire Memb. Donation 

Fund-Fire Protection and 

Control-Assets less than 

$5000 2,014.00$         

Grant Revenue - Montana 

Community Foundation:                            

2703-337030  $              9,000.00 

Unanticipated Grant was 

received in FY18 so 

additional expenditures 

were incurred.

2730-420140-900

K-9 Donation Fund-

Crime Control and 

Investigation-Capital 

Outlay $5,000+ 6,649.00$         

Donation Revenue - Donations 

Operating:                                                                          

2730-365000  $           10,772.00 

Unanticipated donations 

received for purchase of new 

police dog so additional 

expenditures were incurred.

2820-430240-281

Gas Tax Apportionment 

Fund-Road and Street 

Maintenance-Street 

Chemicals  $         4,347.00 

Fund Balance Reserves:                    

2820-250200  $           24,774.00 

Expenditures exceeded 

budgeted amounts due to 

2017/2018 winter season 

conditions and fund balance 

reserve is available.

3542-490300-610

SID #42 Streetscape 

Main St. Imp. Project-

Special Improvement 

Bonds-Principal  $         2,454.00 

Revenue-Bond Principal & Interest 

Assessments:                                    

3542-363020  $              7,229.00 

Principal Payoff received in 

FY18 that was applied to the 

principal balance of the 

bonds which increased the 

expenditure over the 

budgeted amount.

City of Polson

Resolution No. 2018-#____

Exhibit A

Budget Amendment Appropriations

Fiscal Year 2017-2018

1
Agenda Packet Page No. 27



 1 

CITY OF POLSON 

CITY COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
Agenda Item No.:     (Motion) Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision Time Extension Request  

Meeting Date:   October 15, 2018        

Staff Contact:   Kyle Roberts, City Planner 

Phone and Email:   406-883-8213 | cityplanner@cityofpolson.com      
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY: This Agenda Item requests the City Commission make a motion to 

approve, conditionally approve, or deny the Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision time extension request. 

 

BACKGROUND: The Ridgewater Subdivision is a Master Planned Subdivision located in the 

southeastern portion of the city consisting of a mix of residential and commercial zoning. The subdivision 

received preliminary approval in May 2005 and was approved for a 10-year extension in March 2007; 

approved for a six-month extension in February 2017; a two-month extension in August 2017; and a one-

year extension in October 2017. The subdivision is set to expire on October 16, 2018.  

 

Over the course of the past year, Cougar Ridge Development, LLC (developer) and City staff have met to 

discuss and work through City concerns/issues with the subdivision. The potential outcome of the 

discussions was to be developer-proposed modifications to the subdivision’s original conditions of 

approval. Earlier this month, the developer requested that modifications to the conditions be disregarded 

and removed from consideration. At this time the developer is requesting a ten-year time extension on the 

subdivision.  

 

ANALYSIS: Discussed in detail in the staff report attached, City staff requests that the City Commission 

consider two vital pieces of information when evaluating the time extension request. First is preliminary 

plat time extension allowance and the second is the need for secondary access in the subdivision. Included 

in the staff report is a discussion of potential solutions to remedy the secondary access issue. 

 

Should the City Commission choose to deny the extension request, the Ridgewater Master Plan 

Subdivision will expire immediately. This will have no impact on the subdivision’s final platted lots as of 

October 15, 2018. If in the event the subdivision expires, the developer retains the option to continue 

creating lots either by submitting a new master plan for review and approval, or by proposing the creation 

of a small number of lots via major subdivision review. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

Should a time extension be granted, it is recommended that either of the following be incorporated into a 

developer’s agreement:  

A) The developer must provide an updated traffic impact study complete with mitigation measures 

proposed and must adhere to the proposed measures; or 

B) The developer must construct a second access connecting Ridgewater Drive to Hillcrest Drive (Access 

8) as indicated in the traffic impact study at the time the subdivision’s grand total vehicles per day reaches 

7,500 (vpd counts to be derived from the ITE Trip Generation Manual according to land uses). 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION: None 

 

ATTACHMENTS: i) Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision Time Extension Request Staff Report 

Package, October 15, 2018 

Agenda Packet Page No. 28

mailto:cityplanner@cityofpolson.com
Cindy
Text Box
11



Page 1 of 5 

 

Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision – Time Extension Request 
Polson City Commission | October 15, 2018 

STAFF REPORT 
 

BACKGROUND: The Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision, originally approved in May 2005, has largely 
been developed as a market-driven subdivision. As shown in the timeline on Attachment 1, the 
progression of platting lots in Ridgewater has been fairly steady with the exception of a five-year period 
during the recent economic downtown. Today the subdivision consists of 40 platted single-family lots 
(nine of which are developed); a developed multi-family lot; and 23 platted commercial lots (ten of 
which are undeveloped).  
 
At time of Ridgewater Master Plan approval in 2005, the subdivision was approved for two years. In 
2007, the subdivision was approved for a ten-year extension. In February 2017, Cougar Ridge 
Development, LLC (developer) requested another ten-year extension. The City requested that a legal 
review of the subdivision be conducted before granting another ten-year extension – the City and 
developer agreed to a 180-day extension to allow for a comprehensive review. Due to the complexity of 
issues during the review, the City Commission requested a short two-month extension in August 2017.  
 
In October 2017, the developer requested a one-year extension to allow for an opportunity to discuss 
and work with City staff with regard to the City’s concerns/issues with the subdivision. The potential 
outcome of the discussions was to be developer-proposed modifications to the subdivision’s original 
conditions of approval. As progress was made over the past year, City staff would provide status updates 
to the City Commission on a quarterly basis. The table below shows the dates in which the developer 
and City staff met. It was not until late last month that the developer-proposed modifications to the 
conditions were completed. At the City Commission meeting on October 1st, the City requested that a 
quick legal review of the proposed modifications be conducted before going to the City-County Planning 
Board for a public hearing on October 9th. The developer then requested that their proposed 
modifications be disregarded and removed from consideration, and that the subdivision move forward 
with the original conditions intact for a public hearing with the City Commission on October 15th in 
which the developer will seek a ten-year time extension. City staff concurred with this decision, refer to 
the City Attorney memo (Attachment 2). 
 

Meetings between staff and developer were held on: 

November 1st January 8th September 5th 
November 15th January 17th September 24th 
November 28th 

December 12th   
June 7th 

July 10th  
 

Dates that staff reached out to the developer via email requesting to meet: 

July 23rd August 7th  

 
ANALYSIS: As the Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision is set to expire on October 16, 2018, the 
developer is requesting a ten-year extension. At this time, the City Commission may, at the request of 
the developer, extend the subdivision’s approval for a mutually agreed-upon period of time, and a 
request for an extension must be in writing and must provide responses to the following criteria: 
 

a. Progress to date in completing or demonstration and evidence of good faith efforts to 
satisfy the required conditions of preliminary plat approval. 

Agenda Packet Page No. 29



Page 2 of 5 

 

b. Duration of the required extension and the ability of the subdivider to meet the required 
conditions of preliminary plat approval within the requested extension period. 

c. Significant changes in the vicinity of the subdivision that have occurred or are planned to 
occur within the requested extension period and whether the preliminary plat conditions 
adequately mitigate the significant changes. Significant changes constitute changes that may 
render the subdivision non-compliant with current design standards, such as road design, 
wildfire, or flood standards. 

d. Consistency with adopted comprehensive planning documents, including but not limited to, 
the jurisdiction's growth policy, annexation policy, capital improvements plan, 
transportation plan, etc. 

e. Impacts to public health, safety and general welfare. 
f. Planning and provisions of public facilities and services in the vicinity of the subdivision and 

whether the requested extension conforms to those plans and provisions. [6.06.610 (9)(b), 
Polson Development Code] 

 
The developer’s time extension request and response to the aforementioned criteria are included as 
Attachment 3 of this staff report. 
 
City staff requests that the City Commission consider two vital pieces of information: preliminary plat 
time extension allowance and secondary accesses. A discussion of each follows. 
 
Preliminary Plat Time Extension Allowance: Currently the Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision is 
approximately one-fifth platted and is in its thirteenth year of preliminary plat existence. New language 
in the Polson Development Code states “The governing body may issue more than one extension; 
however, the total extensions for preliminary plat approval for non-phased1 subdivisions shall be no 
more than ten years” [6.06.610 (9)(b), Polson Development Code]. If approved, the developer’s ten-year 
extension request would result in 21 years of total extensions for preliminary plat. 
 
Secondary Accesses: The City’s primary concern with the subdivision is ingress and egress – this was also 
a finding of concern from the legal review conducted in 2017. Today, there is only one constructed road 
that provides access in/out of the subdivision – Ridgewater Drive at US Highway 93. The approved 
master plan states “A minimum of two, approved, ingress and egress vehicular roads shall be 
operational at all times once groundbreaking on this project is made” (Cougar Ridge Development Staff 
Report, March 21, 2005, page 6). Furthermore, “The master development and phase 1 application 
emphasizes that the development will not funnel the traffic to a single entry but rather has multiple 
access points” (Requested Extension for Cougar Ridge/Ridgewater letter, Susan B. Swimley, June 28, 
2017). As illustrated in Attachment 4, multiple access points were proposed and recommended in the 
required traffic impact study that accompanied approval of the master plan as will be discussed shortly. 
“The public safety reason for multiple access points is to allow for the availability of an exit route in an 
emergency and to ensure that fire protection, law enforcement and emergency medical services are 
able to reach the area to provide services in an emergency. When comparing the approved Master 
Development Plan against the finally platted subdivision lots, one will see that anticipated access points 

                                                 
1 “’Phased development’ means a subdivision application and preliminary plat that at the time of submission consists of 
independently platted development phases that are scheduled for review on a schedule proposed by the subdivider” (76-3-103, 
MCA). Ridgewater Master Plan is considered a non-phased development as its original approval predates “phased 
development” review criteria.  

Agenda Packet Page No. 30



Page 3 of 5 

 

have been blocked by subdivided phase lots” (ibid). This was due to material changes2 that occurred 
throughout the subdivision’s evolution as evidenced when one compares the approved master plan 
layout shown in Attachment 5 to the today’s lot configuration shown in Attachment 6. 
 
As previously mentioned, the traffic impact study approved with the master plan identifies traffic 
impacts as the subdivision develops as well as recommendations to mitigate these impacts. Attachment 
7 contains relevant excerpts from the traffic impact study. As shown in Table 1 of page 12 of Attachment 
7, the study forecasted the development of the subdivision in three phases: Phase I in 2006 with 25 
single-family lots and five commercial lots; Phase II in 2007 with 19 single-family lots and five 
commercial lots; and full build-out in 2016 with 143 single-family lots, 108 multi-family lots, and 63 
commercial lots. There are two important points to consider from the study. First, the author of the 
study recommends that a traffic report amendment be conducted to address significant changes, should 
they occur, before the full build-out of the subdivision. What’s more, the study states “The developer 
plans to revisit this report [traffic study] after completion of Phase II, to update the traffic impacts, the 
actual development occurring and the mitigation measures proposed” (Traffic Impact Analysis for the 
Cougar Ridge Development; Attachment 7, page 1). In spite of the material changes made to the 
subdivision, to date no update or amendment to the traffic impact study has been made. 
 
Second, the study recommends that by Phase II a second access be constructed, specifically a 
connection to 15th Avenue (Access 5). One can assume that the study recommended 15th Avenue 
because it had forecasted that the bulk of platted lots and development would be residential, and thus a 
secondary access of 15th Avenue would be most needed. However, although the bulk of platted lots 
have been residential, the majority of the actual development has occurred on commercial lots. That 
being said, at this point in time a second access may be more logical to be constructed in the 
commercial area of the subdivision. Additionally, 15th Avenue is not a second access option as Condition 
#48 of the subdivision’s conditions of approval state “15th Ave E. is not to be used” (Cougar Ridge 
Development Staff Report, March 21, 2005, page 13). The subdivision is in need of a second access as 
illustrated by the current number of platted lots shown in the table below. 
 

NUMBER OF PLATTED LOTS – TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY PHASE II VS. CURRENT 

 
Number of Residential Lots: 

Number of Commercial 
Lots 

 Single-Family Multi-Family  

Phase II (2007) 44 0 10 

October 2018 40 1 23 

 
In addition to the number of platted lots, the study identifies an estimated vehicle trips per day (vpd) 
threshold as shown in Tables 3 and 4 on page 14 of Attachment 7. An estimated 3,820 vpd was 
forecasted by Phase II. As shown in the table below, today the subdivision generates an estimated grand 
total of 6,312 vpd (not factoring in the ten platted, undeveloped commercial lots).3 This provides further 
proof that a second access should be developed and more urgently as the current ten platted, 
undeveloped commercial lots develop in the near future. 
 
 

                                                 
2 Significant changes to: lot configuration or increase in the number of lots; significant road or pedestrian/bicycle facilities; 
easement provisions; or designated access may be considered a material change [6.06.310 (4), Polson Development Code]. 
3 Refer to Attachment 8 for trip generation calculations. 

Agenda Packet Page No. 31



Page 4 of 5 

 

 
 

TRIP GENERATION – TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY PHASE II VS. CURRENT 

Trip Generation for Residential Development 

 Number of Units: Daily Trips (vehicles per day): 

Phase II (2007) 44 Single-Family 420 

October 2018 40 Single-Family 383 

 1 Multi-Family 233 

October 2018 Total: 40 SF, 1 MF 616 

Trip Generation for Commercial Development 

 Land Use Type: Number of Lots: Daily Trips (vehicles per day): 

Phase II (2007) 
Convenience Store & 
Gas 

1 1,268 

 
Fast Food Restaurant 
w/ Drive up 

1 992 

 
Restaurant: High 
Turnover 

1 509 

 Retail: Specialty 5 177 

 Office Building 2 448 

Phase II (2007) Total:  10 3,394 

October 2018  10 (undeveloped) Unknown 

  13 5,696 

October 2018 Total:  23 5,696 

GRAND TOTAL TRIP GENERATION 

Phase II (2007) 3,820 vehicles per day 

October 2018 6,312 vehicles per day 

 
 
At this time, the City Commission shall determine the extent to which the request meets the criteria for 
extension, including whether or not any changes to the primary criteria impacts identified in the original 
subdivision approval or any new information not previously considered exists that creates any new 
potentially significant adverse impacts that would support denial of the subdivision extension request. 
Additional conditions may not be imposed as a condition of subdivision extension [6.06.610 (9)(b)(iv), 
Polson Development Code]. 
 
Should the City Commission choose to deny the extension request, the Ridgewater Master Plan 
Subdivision will expire immediately. This will have no impact on the subdivision’s final platted lots as of 
October 15, 2018. If in the event the subdivision expires, the developer retains the option to continue 
creating lots either by submitting a new master plan for review and approval, or by proposing to create 
a small number of lots via major subdivision review. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Should a time extension be granted, it is recommended that either of the 
following be incorporated into a developer’s agreement: a) the developer must provide an updated 
traffic impact study complete with mitigation measures proposed and must adhere to the proposed 
measures; or, b) construct a second access connecting Ridgewater Drive to Hillcrest Drive (Access 8) as 
indicated in the traffic impact study at the time the subdivision’s grand total vehicles per day reaches 
7,500 (vpd counts to be derived from the ITE Trip Generation Manual according to land uses).  

Agenda Packet Page No. 32



Page 5 of 5 

 

 
While the study states that Access 8 would not be constructed until the final phase (full build-out), there 
are valid reasons for it to be constructed soon. First, there is currently is no second access; second, the 
need for a second access is long overdue; third, the majority of development has occurred in the 
commercial area and there are currently ten platted, undeveloped lots with potential for development; 
fourth, generally commercial uses generate more vpd than residential uses; fifth, the traffic study states 
that at the City’s request, elimination of potential accesses should occur in a descending order (to 
minimize impacts to access and connectivity) and Access 8 is listed as the last to be eliminated (Traffic 
Impact Analysis for the Cougar Ridge Development; Attachment 7, page 11); and finally, the study states 
“Connectivity of public streets provides the greatest emergency access accessibility. Similarly, 
connectivity of public streets provides the most convenient access around the City for both residents 
and visitors” (ibid). 
 
Providing a secondary access in a timely manner via either option presented will ensure that the 
subdivision’s development meets the purpose of the Polson Development Code by promoting the 
health, safety, morals and general welfare of the people of the city of Polson. More specifically, a 
secondary access will secure safety from fire and other dangers, and lessen congestion and provide an 
effective transportation system within and outside of the subdivision.  
 

Agenda Packet Page No. 33



Ridgewater Progression Timeline 

2005
•Ridgewater Master Plan Approved

•Phase 1 (Residential) Approved

2007
•Phase 2 (Residential) Approved

•Ridgewater 10-year Extension Approved

2012
•Phase 2 (Commercial) Approved

•Phase 3 (Commercial) Approved

2014
•Phase 4 (Commercial) Approved

•Phase 5 (Commercial) Approved

2015
•Phase 6 (Commercial) Approved

2017

•Ridgewater 6-month Extension Approved

•Phase 7 (Commercial) Approved

•Phase M-1 (Residential) Approved

•Ridgewater 2-month Extension Approved

•Ridgewater 1-year Extension Approved

2018
•Ridgewater Master Plan Set to Expire October 16, 2018

ATTACHMENT 1

Agenda Packet Page No. 34



MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mark Shrives, City Manager 
From: M. Richard Gebhardt, City Attorney 

Re:  Change of Conditions Proposal-Ridgewater 

I have had an opportunity to review the spreadsheet that Kyle Roberts prepared which 
compares the current conditions of Master Plan approval with the proposed conditions.  Many of 
the changes were proposed to clarify or eliminate matters that were no longer relevant to the 
developer or to the citizens of Polson.  They were changed by circumstances or amendment to 
the Polson Development Code.   

Although, our staff and commissioners have never been through a full blown major 
planning process it is not hard to imagine the time, effort and expense that such a process 
takes.  The previous planning staff and commissioners were completely aware of the issues and 
the facts of the specific proposal.   

The current staff and commissioners are unaware of the reasoning behind the original 
conditions.  These conditions when they were placed on the Master Plan were assumed to be 
statutorily and constitutionally sound and enforceable.   

The recent proposals, in part, are substantively changing the Master Plan without a full 
review of the statutory criteria such as effects on public safety, public health, and transportation. 
If allowed, without a full blown factual submittal and hearing the amendments to the Master Plan 
would expose the City to legal liability for failure to follow the statutory guidelines. Any litigation 
arising from that amendment would delay the ability of the subdivider to continue sale and 
marketing.  

The true issues are these: 

The developer wants an extension so that it may continue to move toward full sale in a 
market that needs to catch up to availability.   

The City is in desperate need to have a reasonable alternative access for emergency 
and overflow traffic.   

The control over that access is in the possession of the developer and the City has 
proposed a timeline for completion of the access so that if the extension is approved the 
citizens’ public safety is assured as the subdivision is built out.  

In conclusion, I would recommend to the Commission that we honor the previous 
conditions of approval and, if reasonable secondary or alternative access can be assured, that 
an extension be granted in the best interests of the citizens.   

ATTACHMENT 2

Agenda Packet Page No. 35



ATTACHMENT 3

Agenda Packet Page No. 36



Agenda Packet Page No. 37



ATTACHMENT 4

Agenda Packet Page No. 38



ATTACHMENT 5

Agenda Packet Page No. 39



ATTACHMENT 6

Agenda Packet Page No. 40



ATTACHMENT 7

Agenda Packet Page No. 41



Agenda Packet Page No. 42



Agenda Packet Page No. 43



Agenda Packet Page No. 44



Agenda Packet Page No. 45



Agenda Packet Page No. 46



Agenda Packet Page No. 47



Agenda Packet Page No. 48



Agenda Packet Page No. 49



Daily Trips Daily Trips Notes

Phase 1 Phase 1 (7 lots platted; 3 undeveloped):

23 single-family lots platted 220 O'Reilly Auto Parts 390 6300 sq ft

Taco Bell 992 2000 sq ft

Phase 2 St. Luke Clinic 311 9900 sq ft

17 single-family lots platted 163 First Citizens ATM --

Phase M-1 Phase 2 

1 multi-family lot platted 233 KRMC 692 22000 sq ft

(Polson Landing -- 35 Units)

Phase 3

TOTAL: 616 Valley Glass 20 5200 sq ft

Phase 4

Daily Trips Sunburst, Edward Jones, KMRC Clinic ~141 12800 sq ft

Polson Youth Soccer Association 

(4 fields) 285 Copper Mtn. Coffee, Gym, Thrivent Financial 750

Source: Developer Special Use 

Permit

Black Mtn Sftwr (17800 sq ft) 196

Aquatic Center (11500 sq ft) 379 Phase 5 (4 lots platted; 3 undeveloped):

Red Lion/MacKenzie River Pizza 1113

Red Lion = 654 (80 rooms), 

MacKenzie = 459 (95 seats)

TOTAL: 860

Phase 6

FRE Dialysis Clinic 201 6400 sq ft

DCI Dialysis Clinic 226 7200 sq ft

Phase 7 (4 lots platted; 4 undeveloped)

TOTAL: 4836

GRAND TOTAL: 6312

RIDGEWATER TRIP GENERATION | OCTOBER 2018
Source: ITE Trip Generation 8th Edition

COMMERCIAL

MISC COMMERCIAL

RESIDENTIAL

ATTACHMENT 8

Agenda Packet Page No. 50



 

CITY OF POLSON 
CITY COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
Agenda Item Number:       
Meeting Date: October 15, 2018      
Staff Contact:  Cindy Dooley, Finance Officer         
 
AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY:  Approval of Resolution No. 2018-#___ to request distribution of 2018 
Bridge and Road Safety And Accountability Program Funds (BaRSAA) 
 
BACKGROUND:   The 65th Legislature passed HB 473 and it was signed by Governor Bullock on May 
3, 2017.  This bill provides for a graduated increase in the motor vehicle fuel tax by fiscal year 2023 (6 
cents in gasoline and 2 cents in diesel).  Each year 35% or 9.8 million (whichever is greater) is allocated 
to the Montana Department of Transportation (MDT) and the remainder (approximately $21 million by 
FY2021) is allocated to local governments using the same formula of road mileage and population that is 
used for distribution of the existing gas tax revenue.  Between March 1st  and November 1st of each year 
the City can request distribution of the funds that were allocated for the previous fiscal year or the funds 
can be requested to be reserved for distribution in a future year if a project is not currently identified.  The 
funds for a particular year must be distributed within 5 years or the funds are reallocated to other entities. 
 
ANALYSIS:    The distribution of funds requires a 5% match from other local government funds, but the 
existing gas tax fund revenues cannot be used as a match.  For 2018 the City’s allocated share of the 
BaRSAA funds is $37,140.59.  This represents revenue collections from July – October, 2017.  The 2019 
allocation will be based on a full twelve months of collection revenue.  The 5% match for the 2018 funds 
will come from the Stormwater System Fund.   
 
BaRSAA funds can be used to pay for construction, reconstruction, maintenance and repair of the City’s 
streets and alleys that it is required to maintain.  The funds cannot be used to purchase equipment.  In the 
future BaRSAA funds could be used for special improvement district street projects as-well.  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:   See Appendix A to the Resolution for details on the 2018 project. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Resolution 2018-#____ to allow the City to request 
distribution of the 2018 BaRSAA funds. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:  I move to approve Resolution No. 2018-#TBD authorizing the City Finance 
Officer to request distribution of the 2018 Bridge and Road Safety and Accountability Program Funds 
by November 1, 2018. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution No. 2018-#____ with attached Appendix A 
            

       

Agenda Packet Page No. 51

Cora
Typewritten Text

Cora
Typewritten Text
12

Cindy
Text Box
12



   
CITY OF POLSON 

RESOLUTION 2018-#_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION REQUESTING DISTRIBUTION OF  
BRIDGE AND ROAD SAFETY AND ACCOUNTABILITY PROGRAM FUNDS 

 
WHEREAS, the Bridge and Road Safety and Accountability Account created by HB 473 requires 

the Montana Department of Transportation to allocate accrued funds to cities, towns, counties, and 
consolidated city-county governments for construction, reconstruction, maintenance, and repair of rural 
roads, city or town streets and alleys, bridges, or roads and streets that the city, town, county, or 
consolidated city-county government has the responsibility to maintain; and,  

 
WHEREAS, a city, town, county, or consolidated city-county government that requests funds 

under the Bridge and Road Safety and Accountability Account must match each $20 requested with $1 of 
local government matching funds; and, 

 
WHEREAS, a city, town, county, or consolidated city-county government requesting distribution 

of allocated funds may make such a request to the Department of Transportation between March 1 and 
November 1 of the year the funds were allocated; and, 

 
WHEREAS, a description of the projects to be funded (or the money used to match federal funds) 

are detailed in Appendix A; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the local match for the allocated funds has been budgeted from the Stormwater 

System Fund.  
 
THEREFORE, NOW BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

 
1. The City of Polson requests distribution of its share of the 2018 allocated Bridge and 

Road Safety and Accountability funds to be used for the projects identified in Appendix A. 
 
2. That Cynda M. Dooley, the Finance Officer of the City of Polson is hereby empowered 

and authorized to execute such further documents as may be necessary to facilitate the distribution of 
said funds. 

 
Adopted this 15th day of October, 2018. 

 
 
Paul Briney, Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Cora Pritt, Clerk of the City of Polson 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Agenda Packet Page No. 52



   
APPENDIX A 

CITY OF POLSON 
BRIDGE AND ROAD SAFETY AND ACCOUNTABILITY PROGRAM  

DISTRIBUTION OF 2018 FUNDS 
 

 
Proposed Project: 
 
Second Street East Project      $40,000.00 
 Project Description:  One block of 2nd St. E from 
 Highway 93 going South; modifying ADA corner ramp 
 at highway and facilitating storm drainage to protect  
 the pavement and re-paving the block. 
 
BaRSAA Funds requesting  (100%)   $37,140.59 
Matching Funds from Stormwater System Fund  $  2,859.41 
 (minimum match is 5%) 
  
Total Funds available      $40,000.00 
 
 
If the project comes in under budget, any remaining 2018 BaRSAA funds will be used to 
purchase street chemicals or expand the project into the next block. 

Agenda Packet Page No. 53


	City Commission Agenda 10 15 18
	567agenda
	doc05237120181011132326
	10 01 18
	Consent 101518
	Rick Skates PROCLAMATION HONOR
	R SLOAN PROCLAMATION HONOR

	FY18 Budget Amendment Agenda item
	Agenda item summary 101518
	FY18 Budget Amendment Resolution_1
	FY18 Budget Amendments

	Ridgewater Extension Request AIS, Oct 15 2018
	Ridgewater Master Plan Subdivision Extension Request Staff Report_Oct 15 2018
	Attachment 1
	Attachment 2 memo to city manager ridgewater
	Attachment 3 Time Extension Request Application
	Attachment 4
	Attachment 5
	Attachment 6
	Attachment 7
	Gas Tax Agenda item
	Agenda item summary 101518_1
	2018 Gas Tax Resolution




